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 1.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-00086 
CASE NAME: FIRE INSURANCE VS. WATTS REGULATOR 
HEARING ON MOTION TO COMPEL ARBITRATION AND TO STAY PROCEEDINGS 
FILED BY WATTS REGULATOR CO. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Off calendar at the request of the moving party. 

  

 2.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-00893 
CASE NAME: MEGA CREATION VS. ALPHA DESIGN 
HEARING ON MOTION TO SET ASIDE DEFAULT & DEFAULT JUDGMENT 
FILED BY ALEXANDER RIVKIN 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Before the Court are Defendant, Alexander Rivkin’s, and Defendant, Alpha Design, Inc.’s 
(collectively, “Defendants”) separate Motions to Set Aside Default and Default Judgment (“the 
motions”). The motions are granted.  Defendants to file their proposed responsive pleadings no 
later than November 18, 2016. 
 
Defendant Rivkin, who is not an attorney, asserts that with respect to the default against him, he 
believed he had been given two 15-day extensions of time to plead, and that while his search for 
an attorney delayed his response, he still was within the “second” extension.  He asserts that 
with respect to the default separately entered against Alpha Design, Inc., as the sole officer of 
the corporation, he thought the arrangement for his response covered the corporation as well.  
Plaintiff’s counsel, Mr. Fitzpatrick, denied ever agreeing to a second extension, pointing out that 
it is not allowed without a court order.  (See C.R.C. 3.110(d).)  He did learn that Mr. Rivkin had 
retained counsel, Mr. Martinovsky, only 3 days after the first extension expired, however, and he 
had not yet applied for a default at that point.  He applied for the default against Rivkin two days 
later.  His declaration does not indicate whether he advised the new attorney that the first 
extension had expired and he would seek a default.  Mr. Martinovsky claims that Mr. Fitzpatrick 
said he would not seek a default, which Mr. Fitzpatrick denies. 
 
Relief under Code of Civil Procedure (“CCP”) section 473, subdivision (b), is discretionary, and 
the provisions are to be liberally construed as to further policy favoring deciding legal actions on 
their merits. (Zamora v. Clayborn Contracting Group, Inc. (2002) 28 Cal.4th 249, 255-256.) 
(citations omitted.)  Without resolving the factual dispute, even assuming Mr. Fitzpatrick’s 
version of events to be correct, each of the defaults was a result of “mistake or excusable 
neglect” under the statute, i.e., Mr. Martinovsky’s failure to immediately file a responsive 
pleading or apply for an order extending time.  Mr. Rivkin’s lack of understanding of his duties 
with respect to the corporation also is understandable in this context. 
 
Plaintiff, Mega Creations, Inc., asks the Court to require Defendants to pay reasonable 
attorney’s fees incurred in association with Defendants’ conduct. The Court grants this request, 
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as permitted by CCP 473, subdivision (c)(1)(A), and orders Defendants to each pay Plaintiff 
$500 at the conclusion of this matter.  
 

  

 3.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-00893 
CASE NAME: MEGA CREATION VS. ALPHA DESIGN 
HEARING ON MOTION TO SET ASIDE DEFAULT & DEFAULT JUDGMENT 
FILED BY ALPHA DESIGN, INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
See above. 

  

 4.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-01906 
CASE NAME: GABRIEL VS. WELLS FARGO BANK 
SPECIAL SET HEARING ON OSC RE PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION 
SET BY PETER GABRIEL AND ERLINDA GABRIEL 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Off calendar.  The Court has received a notice that the matter has been removed to United 
States District Court. 

 

  

 5.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL08-01247 
CASE NAME: PORTFOLIO VS. PACHECO 
HEARING ON MOTION TO VACATE JUDGMENT 
FILED BY PORTFOLIO RECOVERY ASSOCIATES, LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Plaintiff’s unopposed motion to vacate the judgment in its favor and dismiss the case is granted. 
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 6.  TIME: 10:00   CASE#: MSC12-01289 
CASE NAME: LEE VS. BHAK 
ISSUE CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Tentative ruling procedure does not apply. 

  

 7.  TIME: 10:00   CASE#: MSP16-00035 
CASE NAME: GUARDIANSHIP OF KAYLA WERNER 
ISSUE CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Tentative ruling procedure does not apply. 

 

8.  TIME:  9:05   CASE#: MSC16-01276 
CASE NAME: NGUYEN VS. PUBLIC EMPLOYEES UN 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO COMPLAINT of NGUYEN FILED BY JAMES STARR, 
PETE ELLIS, TRICELL DUNN-DICKENS, DAVID RAMIREZ, TOM SHIRLEY, 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 

Defendant the Public Employees Union, Local 1’s demurrer is sustained with leave to 

amend as to causes of action 5 and 11, and otherwise overruled. Plaintiff shall file and serve an 

amended complaint by December 1, 2016. 

The Union has filed a demurrer to causes of action 4, 5, 7, 8, 10 & 11. The demurrer as 

to each cause of action is based upon the failure to state a claim, the Union also argues that 

many of these claims are preempted by the Labor Management Recording and Disclosure Act 

(“LMRDA”) and finally, the Union argues that causes of action 8, 10 and 11 are uncertain.  

The Union does not address cause of action four (4) and eight (8) in their memorandum 

and therefore the demurrers as to those causes of action are overruled.  

Cause of Action 5 (Civil Code 52.1) 

Plaintiff sued the Union for a violation of a Civil Code §52.1. In order to state a claim 

under section 52.1, the plaintiff must show (1) that the defendant interfered with or attempted to 

interfere with plaintiff's constitutional or statutory right by threatening or committing violent acts, 
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(2) that plaintiff reasonably believed that if he exercised his constitutional right the defendant 

would commit violence against him, (3) that plaintiff was harmed and (4) that the defendant's 

conduct was a substantial factor in causing the harm. (Austin B. v. Escondido Union School 

Dist. (2007) 149 Cal.App.4th 860, 882 (quoting CACI No. 3025 [currently No. 3066]).)  

The Union’s main argument is that Starr’s threat to hogtie Plaintiff is not a sufficient 

threat under Civil Code §52.1. The Court finds that, based on the allegation, a reasonable trier 

of fact could conclude that Starr’s statement was a threat of violence. Thus, a demurrer on this 

ground alone could not be sustained.  

 Defendants also argue, however, that Plaintiff failed to allege that Starr’s threat 

interfered with Plaintiff’s constitutional or statutory rights. Plaintiff has not explained what right 

Starr interfered with. Therefore, the demurrer as to this cause of action is sustained with leave to 

amend.  

Cause of Action 7 (IIED) 

As to cause of action 7 for infliction of emotional distress, the demurer is only based 

upon the failure to state a claim despite the Union’s reference to uncertainty in its memorandum. 

The Union argues, without supporting authority, that the complaint fails to allege an 

agency/employment relationship that would make the Union liable. The complaint alleges each 

defendant’s relationship with the Union. (Comp. ¶¶ 5 -15.) These allegations include that 

Defendants are members of the Union’s executive committee and/or board of directors and this 

are sufficient to show a relationship with the Union.  

Defendant raised new arguments in its reply. The Court will not consider these new 

arguments at this time, but the Court notes that Plaintiff is now on notice as to these arguments 

and Defendant may raise these arguments in the future, if otherwise appropriate. 

Cause of Action 10 (Breach of Contract) 

Cause of action 10 for breach of contract is based on allegations that the Union 

improperly terminated Plaintiff’s employment contract and failed to provide severance pay. 

(Comp. ¶124.) Plaintiff’s employment contract required severance pay if Plaintiff was terminated 

from his contract, unless Plaintiff is “terminated for illegal acts or malfeasance”. (Comp. Ex. C.) 

The Union argues that Plaintiff was terminated for malfeasance. On the other hand, Plaintiff 

argues that the allegations in the complaint show that Plaintiff did not commit malfeasance. 

Plaintiff’s argument is that although the board of directors found that Plaintiff committed 

malfeasance, this finding was improper and thus a violation of the contract. The Union has not 

provided any legal authority for the proposition that an employer could make an improper finding 

of malfeasance to avoid paying severance and not be liable for breach of contract. Without legal 

authority to support Defendant’s position, the Court overrules the demurrer to this cause of 

action.  
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Cause of Action 11 (Defamation) 

Cause of action 11 for defamation is based upon statements made by several different 

people. As discussed in the special motion to strike and in the demurrer by the individual 

Defendants, Plaintiff has not alleged a claim for defamation. Therefore, the demurrer as to the 

cause of action is sustained with leave to amend. 

LMBRDA 

Finally, the Union argues that several causes of action are preempted by the LMBRDA. 

As discussed in the special motion to strike, the LMBRDA does not apply here.  

 

 

9.  TIME:  9:05   CASE#: MSC16-01276 
CASE NAME: NGUYEN VS. PUBLIC EMPLOYEES UN 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO COMPLAINT of NGUYEN FILED BY PUBLIC 
EMPLOYEES UNION, LOCAL 1 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 

The individual Defendants’ demurrer is sustained with leave to amend as to cause of 

action 5, 6 and 11, and otherwise overruled. Plaintiff shall file and serve an amended complaint 

by December 1, 2016. 

Cause of Action 2 (FEHA Harassment) 

Plaintiff sued several of the individual defendants for harassment in cause of action 2. An 

individual defendant can be liable for harassment under FEHA either directly or by aiding and 

abetting the unlawful conduct. (Matthews v. Superior Court (1995) 34 Cal.App.4th 598, 605.)  

In order to bring a FEHA claim based upon harassment, “the harassment must be 

‘sufficiently severe or pervasive “to alter the conditions of [the victim's] employment and create 

an abusive working environment.” ' [Citation.]” (Dee v. Vintage Petroleum, Inc. (2003) 106 

Cal.App.4th 30, 35.) “In many cases, a single offensive act by a coemployee is not enough to 

establish employer liability for a hostile work environment. But where that act is committed by a 

supervisor, the result may be different.” (Id. at p. 36.) In addition, the use of racial slurs a couple 

of times by a supervisor can be enough to support a claim for harassment. (Rodgers v. 

Western-Southern Life Ins. Co. (7th Cir. 1993) 12 F.3d 668, 675 [“Perhaps no single act can 

more quickly ‘alter the conditions of employment and create an abusive working environment,’ 

Meritor, [v. Vinson (1986)] 477 U.S. [57] at 67, than the use of an unambiguously racial epithet 

such as ‘nigger’ by a supervisor in the presence of his subordinates.”].)  
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With these standards in mind, the Court turns to the conduct alleged by each individual.  

Plaintiff alleges that Ellis used a variety of racial slurs in Plaintiff’s presence. (Comp. ¶ 

26.) Ellis also told Plaintiff that he was lying “though those squinty eyes.” (Comp. ¶35.) These 

allegations are sufficient to support a claim for harassment against Ellis.  

Plaintiff alleges that Starr told Plaintiff “your kind don’t have a history of running things 

here” and that during a meeting Starr attacked Plaintiff verbally and made false comments about 

him with racial overtones. (Comp. ¶¶ 27, 29.) Plaintiff also alleges that Starr’s conduct bothered 

other individuals who later complained about this conduct. (Comp. ¶¶30-31.) These allegations 

are sufficient to support a claim for harassment against Starr.  

Defendants Starr, Ellis, Dunn-Dickens, Ramirez, Shirley, West, Morales, Riley and Avila 

are alleged to have conspired to harass and retaliate against Plaintiff for Plaintiff making his 

complaint against Ellis. (Comp. ¶37.) These individuals are all alleged to be on the executive 

committee and to have hiring and firing authority over Plaintiff. The situation alleged here is 

similar to the one in Matthews v. Superior Court (1995) 34 Cal.App.4th 598. In Matthews, the 

court allowed FEHA sexual harassment claims to stand against the employee’s supervisors, as 

well as against the actual harasser. The employee complained about harassment to the 

administrative director who “characterized the harassment of which [the employee] complained 

as ‘trivial and insignificant,’ and ‘belittled [the employee's] experiences and reactions.’ [the 

director] refused to take any corrective action in response to petitioner's complaints.” (Id. at p. 

600-601.) The court allow the harassment claim to go forward against the harasser, but also 

against the director based upon a theory of aiding and abetting the proscribed acts. (Id. at p. 

605.) Considering all the allegations in the complaint, the Court finds that there are sufficient 

facts alleged to support a claim for aid and abetting (rather than a “conspiracy”), in FEHA 

harassment against these individuals.   

Therefore, the Court overrules the demurrer as to cause of action 2.   

Cause of action 5 (Civil Code 52.1) 

A violation of Civil Code §52.1 requires (1) that the defendant interfered with or 

attempted to interfere with plaintiff's constitutional or statutory right by threatening or committing 

violent acts, (2) that plaintiff reasonably believed that if he exercised his constitutional right the 

defendant would commit violence against him, (3) that plaintiff was harmed and (4) that the 

defendant's conduct was a substantial factor in causing the harm. (Austin B. v. Escondido Union 

School Dist. (2007) 149 Cal.App.4th 860, 882 (quoting CACI 3025 [currently No. 3066]).)   

The Defendants’ main argument is that Starr’s threat to hogtie Plaintiff is not a sufficient 

threat under Civil Code §52.1. The Court finds that, as alleged, a reasonable trier of fact could 

conclude that Starr’s statement was a threat of violence. Thus, a demurrer on this ground alone 

could not be sustained.  
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 Defendants also argue, however, that Plaintiff failed to allege that Starr’s threat 

interfered with Plaintiff’s constitutional or statutory rights. Plaintiff has not explained what right 

Starr interfered with. Therefore, the demurrer as to this cause of action is sustained with leave to 

amend.  

Cause of action 6 (KKK Act) 

A claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3) (the Ku Klux Klan Act) requires a party to “allege (1) a 

conspiracy, (2) to deprive any person or a class of persons of the equal protection of the laws, 

or of equal privileges and immunities under the laws, (3) an act by one of the conspirators in 

furtherance of the conspiracy, and (4) a personal injury, property damage or a deprivation of any 

right or privilege of a citizen of the United States.” (Gillespie v. Civiletti (9th Cir. 1980) 629 F.2d 

637, 641 (citing to Griffin v. Breckenridge (1971) 403 U.S. 88, 102-103).) Alleging a conspiracy 

in requires some allegation that the conspiring officers agreed – expressly or tacitly – to achieve 

the intended wrongful act. (Choate v. County of Orange (2000) 86 Cal.App.4th 312, 333.) “It is 

not enough that the conspiring officers knew of an intended wrongful act…” (Ibid.) 

Although some of the alleged conduct by individuals shows animosity towards Plaintiff 

because of his race, it is not clear from the allegations that the individual defendants conspired 

together to terminate Plaintiff or to find that Plaintiff committed malfeasance. Thus, the 

allegations do not show a conspiracy among the Defendants. The demurrer as to this cause of 

action is sustained with leave to amend for Plaintiff to allege a conspiracy.  

Cause of action 7 (IIED) 

Defendants argue that this claim does not allege the objectionable conduct committed by 

each Defendant. Cause of action 7 incorporates all earlier conduct, which includes the 

harassment allegations and the aid and abetting of harassment. Therefore, the allegations 

against the Defendants are sufficiently clear.  

Defendants raised new arguments in their reply. The Court will not consider these new 

arguments at this time, but the Court notes that Plaintiff is now on notice as to these arguments 

and Defendants may raise them in the future, if otherwise appropriate.  

Cause of action 11 (Defamation) 

Cause of action 11 for defamation is based upon statements made by several different 

people. Defamation “involves the intentional publication of a statement of fact which is false, 

unprivileged, and has a natural tendency to injure or which causes special damage.” (Ringler 

Associates Inc. v. Maryland Casualty Co. (2000) 80 Cal.App.4th 1165, 1179.)  

As to defendant Ramirez, his statement regarding decertification is true according to the 

allegations in the complaint. (Comp. ¶43.) Therefore, the demurrer as to Ramirez is sustained. 

As to Dunn-Dickens, it is not clear what he is alleged to have said and thus, the Court cannot 
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determine if this statement was defamatory. Therefore, the demurrer as to Dunn-Dickens is 

sustained. The demurrer as to Porter and Shirley is moot in light of the Court’s ruling on the 

special motion to strike.  

Although it does not appear that the statements alleged constitute defamation, Plaintiff is 

given leave to amend to allege other statements or facts that would show a claim for 

defamation, if he can do so in good faith.  

LMBRDA 

Finally, Defendants argue that several causes of action are preempted by the LMBRDA. 

As discussed in the special motion to strike, the LMBRDA does not apply here.  

Plaintiff’s Request to Add Defendants to Cause of Action 2 

Plaintiff’s request to add Avilia and McClaflin to cause of action 2 is granted. Defendants may 
challenge the allegations as to these individuals in the future.  
 
 

 
 

10.  TIME:  9:05   CASE#: MSC16-01276 
CASE NAME: NGUYEN VS. PUBLIC EMPLOYEES UN 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR STRIKE FILED BY PUBLIC EMPLOYEES UNION, 
LOCAL 1, JAMES STARR, PETE ELLIS, TRICELL DUNN-DICKENS, DAVID 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 

Defendants’ motion to strike punitive damages is granted with leave to amend, except as 

to paragraph 126 which is granted without leave to amend. Plaintiff shall file and serve an 

amended complaint by December 1, 2016.   

Defendants correctly argue that punitive damages are not available in a breach of 

contract claim. Plaintiff also conceded in his opposition that punitive damages are not available 

in a breach of contract claim. Therefore, the motion to strike is granted without leave to amend 

as to paragraph 126.  

Defendants also seek to strike punitive damages in causes of action 1 (FEHA 

discrimination), 2 (FEHA harassment), 3 (FEHA failure to prevent discrimination and 

harassment), 4 (FEHA retaliation), 5 (Civil 52.1), 6 (KKK Act) and 11 (defamation). In the 

moving papers, Defendants argue that the allegations supporting punitive damages are not 

sufficient.  

In reply, Defendants argue that punitive damages could be available as to some 

Defendants, but not others. Defendants did not clearly make this argument in their moving 
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papers. However, it appears to the Court that punitive damages may be appropriate as to some 

Defendants, but not others. Furthermore, Plaintiff’s allegations regarding punitive damages as to 

all Defendants do not put Defendants on notice as to which Defendants Plaintiff is seeking 

punitive damages against and why. Therefore, Defendants’ motion to strike is granted with leave 

to amend for Plaintiff to specify which Defendants he is seeking punitive damages against and 

the conduct that supports those damages as to each Defendant.  

 

 
 

11.  TIME:  9:05   CASE#: MSC16-01276 
CASE NAME: NGUYEN VS. PUBLIC EMPLOYEES UN 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR SPECIAL ANTI SPLA MTN FILED BY PUBLIC 
EMPLOYEES UNION, LOCAL 1, JAMES STARR, PETE ELLIS, TRICELL 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 

Defendants’ special motion to strike is denied as to causes of action 2, 5, 6, 7, 8 and 11, 

except that the motion is granted as to cause of action 11 as to Defendants Cedric Porter and 

Tom Shirley. 

Defendants have moved to strike causes of action 2, 5, 6, 7, 8 and 11 as to the Public 

Employees Union, Local 1 (the “Union”) and as to certain of the individual Defendants pursuant 

to Code of Civil Procedure §425.16. For the purposes of this motion, the Court has put these 

claims into three groups and will discuss each group in turn. 

Code of Civil Procedure “[s]ection 425.16, subdivision (b)(1) requires the court to engage 

in a two-step process. First, the court decides whether the defendant has made a threshold 

showing that the challenged cause of action is one arising from protected activity. The moving 

defendant's burden is to demonstrate that the act or acts of which the plaintiff complains were 

taken ‘in furtherance of the [defendant]'s right of petition or free speech under the United States 

or California Constitution in connection with a public issue,’ as defined in the statute. (§ 425.16, 

subd. (b)(1).) If the court finds such a showing has been made, it then determines whether the 

plaintiff has demonstrated a probability of prevailing on the claim.” (Equilon Enterprises v. 

Consumer Cause, Inc. (2002) 29 Cal.4th 53, 67.) 

Causes of action 2 (FEHA Harassment), 5 (Civil Rights), 6 (KKK Act) and 7(IIED) 

Defendants Dunn-Dickens, Ramirez, Shirley, West, Morales, Riley, Porter and the Union 

seek to strike these claims. Causes of action 2 and 5 against these individuals are based on 

their participation in the investigation of Plaintiff. (Comp. ¶¶ 71, 95.) Cause of action 6 is based 

on the investigation and also on some additional conduct which includes: that Dunn-Dickens 

demanded expense records from Plaintiff without authorization; that Ramirez publically blamed 

Plaintiff for the teamsters’ efforts to decertify the Union; and that Shirley and Porter published 

defamatory statements in the Union’s newsletter. (Comp. ¶102.) Finally, causes of action 7 does 
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not specify the conduct involved except to include all of the above referenced conduct by all 

Defendants. (Comp. ¶108.) The gravamen of these claims is that Plaintiff was harassed and 

discriminated against for his race and later because he made a complaint about Ellis conduct. In 

addition, the gravamen is that the individual Defendants worked together to get Plaintiff 

terminated for malfeasance.   

Defendants argue that the investigation was a proceeding authorized by law under 29 

U.S.C. §401, et seq. Defendants also argue that the individuals Defendants’ conduct was 

protected by 29 U.S.C. § 411(a)(2) of the Labor Management Recording and Disclosure Act 

(“LMRDA”.) The Union is comprised entirely of public employees and therefore, the LMRDA 

does not apply. (29 U.S.C. § 402(2); see also New Jersey County & Municipal Council, etc. v. 

American Federation of State, County & Municipal Employees (3d Cir. 1973) 478 F.2d 1156, 

1159.)  

Defendants also argue that Ramirez’s statements to the Executive Committee regarding 

decertification are privileged under Civil Code §47(c). Defendants confuse the requirement for 

protected activity under section 425.16 with that of privileged conduct under section 47. In 

addition, most cases that have used authority discussing Civil Code §47 to assist with 

determination of protected activity have done so when discussing the litigation privilege under 

subsection b and have used it to help determine what conduct related to litigation constitutes 

protected activity. (See e.g. Flatley v. Mauro (2006) 39 Cal.4th 299, 322-323.) Defendants have 

offered no case that holds that statements made during an the internal meeting of a union 

regarding employment matters that are internal to the union constitutes protected activity.  

Thus, the arguments in Defendants’ moving papers regarding protected activity fail.  

Although Defendants’ arguments fail, Plaintiff has also provided legal authority for his 

position that the investigation into Plaintiff’s conduct is not protected activity. In Olaes v. 

Nationwide Mutual Ins. Co. (2006) 135 Cal.App.4th 1501 the plaintiff sued for defamation 

related to the employer’s investigation of sexual harassment claims. The court held that the 

private employer’s investigation was not an “official proceeding authorized by law” even though 

the employer was required to take reasonable steps to prevent harassment under Government 

Code § 12940(k). (Id. at p. 1508.)  

In reply, Defendants argue that the investigation into Plaintiff was reviewable by 

mandate. This argument appears to be based on the fact that the Olaes’ decision was partially 

based on a determination that the investigation was not reviewable by mandate. (Id. at p. 1509.) 

First, this argument fails because Defendants were obligated to raise it in their moving papers 

and did not so do. Second, Defendants have not shown that the investigation meets the three 

part test set out in Anton v. San Antonio Community Hosp. (1977) 19 Cal.3d 802, 814. Similarly, 

Defendants rely on Bray v. Int'l Molders & Allied Workers Union (1984) 155 Cal.App.3d 608 

without showing how the situation here is similar to the one in Bray. And finally, Defendants 

have not shown that the purpose of section 425.16 would be met by finding the investigation 

and related activity in this case constitutes protected activity. (See e.g. Nam v. Regents of 
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University of California (2016) 1 Cal. App. 5th 1176, 1189 [discussing the purpose of the anti-

SLAPP statute in the context of a employment discrimination lawsuit].)  

Defendants’ motion as to the Union was based entirely on their arguments as to the 

individual Defendants. As explained above, those arguments fail and therefore so do 

Defendants’ arguments as to the Union. 

For the reasons discussed above, the Court finds that Defendants have not shown that 

the conduct alleged in support of claims 2, 5, 6 and 7 is protected activity. Therefore, the Court 

will not consider Plaintiff’s probability of prevailing on these claims and Defendants’ motion as to 

those causes of action is denied. 

Cause of action 8 (Negligent Retention and Supervision) 

This claim is only against the Union. Defendants argue that this claim is also based upon 

the investigation into Plaintiff. Defendants’ argument is not supported by the allegations. The 

harassing and discriminatory conduct in this claim is not clearly specified, but is based on the 

conduct already alleged in the complaint. (Comp. ¶112.) Although, the investigation could be 

part of the objectionable conduct, it is clear that the actions and statements of Starr and Ellis are 

also a large part of this claim. And as discussed above, the investigation is not protected 

activity. Thus, the claim against the Union is not based on protected activity and the motion as 

to this cause of action is denied. 

Cause of action 11 (Defamation) 

Plaintiff brought his claim for defamation against Dunn-Dickens, Ramirez, Shirley, Porter 

and the Union. This claim is based on statements in the August and December 2015 

newsletters that were made by Shirley and Porter. (Comp. ¶¶ 56, 57 & 128-129; RJN 2 & 3.) In 

addition, the claim is brought against Dunn-Dickens for writing a letter requesting Plaintiff’s 

expense reports, and against Ramirez for claiming that the decertification efforts arose after 

Plaintiff filed him complaint against Ellis. (Comp. ¶¶42 & 42.)   

Defendants argue that the alleged defamatory statements are protected activity under 

425.16(e) (3) and (4). Subsection 3 applies to “any written or oral statement or writing made in a 

place open to the public or a public forum in connection with an issue of public interest.” And 

subsection 4 applies to “conduct… in connection with a public issue or an issue of public 

interest.”  

Statements by Shirley and Porter 

The statements in the newsletter were published on the Union’s website and thus were 

made in a public forum. (See Barrett v. Rosenthal (2006) 40 Cal.4th 33, 41, fn. 4.) Plaintiff does 

not dispute this. Instead, Plaintiff argues that these statements were not issues of public 

interest.  
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Du Charme v. International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers (2003) 110 Cal.App.4th 

107 found that statements regarding the reasons for an employee’s termination after the 

termination had occurred were not protected activity. In contrast, Macias v. Hartwell (1997) 55 

Cal. App. 4th 669 found that statements about the resignation of a past employee were 

protected activity because they were relevant to an election where the past employee was 

running for a position.  

The statement in the December 2015 newsletter was made in conjunction with 

discussing a current threat of decertification. This situation is more akin to Macias than Du 

Charme. Therefore, the Court finds that the December 2015 statement is protected activity. 

The statements in the August 2015 newsletter related to Plaintiff’s past employment and 

are similar to Du Charme in some ways. However, when the statements were made, the Union 

was under threat of decertification. The Court finds that Shirley’s statements regarding Plaintiff 

are related to a present issue because they show that the Union is making changes, which 

could be used to lessen the threat of decertification. Therefore, the Court finds that the 

statements by Shirley had some relevance to the current threat of decertification, which 

constitute matters of public interest and are protected activity under section 425.16. 

Statements by Dunn-Dickens and Ramirez 

Plaintiff argues that the statements from Dunn-Dickens and Ramirez were not made to 

the public and were not matters of public concern. As Defendants correctly point out, private 

conversations involving issues of public concern can be protected activities under the anti-

SLAPP statute. (Averill v. Superior Court (1996) 42 Cal.App.4th 1170, 1175.)  

However, Defendants have not shown that these statements were made in a public 

forum. For example, the letter from Dunn-Dickens to Robert Clarke does not appear to be made 

in a public forum. Ramirez’s statement to the board regarding decertification is a closer call. But, 

this statement is not alleged to have been made in a meeting open to the public and Defendants 

have not otherwise shown that this statement was made in a public forum. In Damon v. Ocean 

Hills Journalism Club (2000) 85 Cal.App.4th 468, 475, the court held that homeowner’s 

association meetings were public but the court noted that the “the Legislature has mandated 

that boards hold open meetings and allow the members to speak publicly at the meetings.” 

Defendants have made no such showing here.  

Probability of Prevailing 

With the exception of the statements by Porter and Shirley, Defendants have failed to 

meet their burden by showing that the alleged defamatory statements are protected activity. As 

to Porter’s and Shirley’s statements, the burden now shifts to Plaintiff to show a probability of 

prevailing on the merits of his defamation claim against Porter and Shirley.  
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In order to prevail on a defamation claim, Plaintiff must show the “intentional publication 

of a statement of fact which is false, unprivileged and has a natural tendency to injure.” (Ringler 

Assoc. Inc. v. Maryland Casualty Co. (2000) 80 Cal.App.4th 1165, 1179.)  

Porter stated that decertification efforts began because members had “their own 

personal issues with people who are no longer with Local 1.” The declarations of Plaintiff, Rolley 

and Kin do not provide evidence that this statement is false. Therefore, Plaintiff has not shown a 

probability of prevailing that this statement is false and the motion must be granted as to this 

statement by Porter. In addition, Porter’s statement does not have a natural tendency to injure 

and thus is not a defamatory statement. 

Shirley’s statements regarding Plaintiff’s employment at the Union could constitute 

defamation, however, Plaintiff must present evidence showing a probability of prevailing on each 

element for defamation, including showing that the statement is false. Here, Plaintiff’s 

declaration and the declarations of Rolley and Kin support Plaintiff’s claim that Plaintiff was not 

terminated because of poor performance or malfeasance, but because of a bias against Plaintiff. 

Thus, Plaintiff has provided evidence that Shirley’s statements were false. Thus, Plaintiff has 

shown a probability of prevailing that the statements made by Shirley constituted defamation.  

Defendants also argue that Shirley’s statement is privileged under Civil Code §47(c). 

Plaintiff does not dispute that section 47(c) could apply, but argues that section 47(c) only 

applies to statements made without malice and here, Shirley acted with malice.  

 “The malice necessary to defeat a qualified privilege is ‘actual malice’ which is 

established by a showing that the publication was motivated by hatred or ill will towards the 

plaintiff or by a showing that the defendant lacked reasonable grounds for belief in the truth of 

the publication and therefore acted in reckless disregard of the plaintiff's rights.” (Taus v. Loftus 

(2007) 40 Cal.4th 683, 721.) Plaintiff alleged that the individual Defendants were involved in a 

scheme to terminate Plaintiff for malfeasance and Plaintiff has presented evidence to support 

these allegations. It is not clear from the evidence, however, that Shirley had any hatred or ill will 

towards Plaintiff or that Shirley’s participation and knowledge of the decision to terminate 

Plaintiff was such that it could be said that Shirley did not have reasonable grounds to believe 

that Plaintiff was properly terminated for malfeasance. Therefore, the Court finds that Plaintiff 

has not shown a probability of prevailing on malice as to Shirley’s statement. 

The Court denies the motion as to cause of action 11 as to all Defendants, except Porter 

and Shirley. The motion is granted as to Porter and Shirley and cause of action 11 because their 

statements were protected activity and Plaintiff has not shown a probability of prevailing on the 

merits.   

Request for Judicial Notice 

Defendants requested judicial notice of the complaint filed in this case and the August 

and December 2015 editions of the “We Are One” newsletter, which is available at the Union’s 
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website. Plaintiff does not oppose these requests and therefore the Court grants Defendants’ 

requests. The Court takes judicial notice of the complaint under Evidence Code §452(d). The 

Court takes judicial notice of the August and December 2015 newsletters under Evidence Code 

§452(h), but judicial notice is only taken of the fact that these statements were written in the 

newsletter and not of the truth of these statements.  

Attorneys’ Fees 

The Court is not ruling on whether or not either party is entitled to attorneys’ fees. That 

issue will be decided separately if appropriately raised by the parties.  

Other Matters 

In reply, Defendants have added new arguments related to whether the conduct here is 

protected activity. For example, Defendants’ argument that the investigation is proceeding 

allowed by law because a writ could be taken was not raised in its moving papers. Defendants 

are permitted to respond to arguments made in opposition, but any new arguments relating to 

protected activity should have been raised in the moving papers so that Plaintiff would have the 

opportunity to address them. (See Jay v. Mahaffey (2013) 218 Cal.App.4th 1522, 1538.) The 

Court will not consider new arguments that are first raised in reply.  

The Court strikes Defendants’ “addendum brief” submitted as Exhibit A to its reply this. This 
brief is an attempt to avoid the 10 page limit for reply papers and is inappropriate.  
 

 
 

 
 

 


